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Adolf Beck

THE case of Aaolf Beck made history in Englisn law.
It led to the constitution of a court of Criminal Appeal.
It is melancholy to think that the long-drawn-out
agony of this unfortunate Norwegian should have
been necessary to bring abeut a reform which logic
and common sense demanded, and only legal con-
servatism and the unreasoning indifference of the
public had so long Iostponed The case 1s also a
startling instance o. that °persistent, 1nexphcable,
fundamental, prc—ordalned irreducible 1n1qu1ty, in
which some existences are steeped; ‘a thousand
coincidences that might have been contrived in hell,
blending and joining together to work the ruin of an
inhocent man; ‘while truth, chained down by fate,
aumbly shrinkidg,- as we do when wrestling with
nightmare, 1s unable to put forth a single gesture tha’
shall rend the veil of night.” These words of Meter-
linck were inspired by the case of Lesurucs, they
apply with perhaps even greater force *o that of Adolf
Beck. There are many circumstances in the adminis-
tratjon of justice in France, under the Dirsctory,
whichh make it easy to explain the error committed 1n
the case of Lesurques. But that of Beck -wccurred in a
country priding itself on its administration of justice,
and the comparative rarity in its legal annals of judicial
error, in the teeth of all those safeguards by which our
system was supposed to protect an innocent man from
wrongful conviciion. Never did ‘murderous fatality ’
hunt down more surely its pre-ordained victim.

Of the innocence of Beck there can be no question.
“There is no shadow .of foundation,’ said the Report
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of the Committee appointed to inauire into his case,
‘ for any of the charges made against Mr Beck, or
an, reason for supposing that he had any connection
wiatcver with them.” No problem of guilt or innocence
arises. The interest of the story of Adolf Beck’s
ill luck lies rather in marking the circumstances
which one by one, through no fault of his own, struck
thc man down, and every time he tried to rise, flung
him back into the clutches of a system which, it is
evident, can in certain conditions become a terrible
instrument of torture for helpless i..nocence. It is no
part of this story to apportion blame. In Beck’s case
no one person was to blame in the sense of seeking
deliberately to commit or, after "t had been committed,
stifle an act of injustice. All concerned in the tragedy
seem the blind creatures of a relentless fate bent on
compassing the ruin of Adolf Beck.

Beck may fairly be described as an unlucky man.
Nothing in life had succeeded with him. Born in
Norway in 1841, hie had been educated as a chemist.
He preferred, however, to go to .ea, and in 186§ or
1866 arrived in England, where he obtained employ-
ment as clerk to a ship-broker. In 1868 he left
Englauu 1or South Ame.ica and there for a short time
appeared as a public singer. He was wounded in a
revolutionarv outbreak in Monte Video. After that
he. was ewuployed variously in ship-broking, and
buying and selling houses. In 1884 Beck returi.ed to
England. Ile made £8000 as commission on the sale
of a Spanish railway concession, and with part of th-t
sum bought a copper property in Norway. But the
enterprise was not successful, and in 1893 Beck was
obliged to borrow f9oo from a hotel proprietor 1n
Covent Garden. Mr G. R. Sims, who knew Beck for
many years, describes him as a deeply religious man,
soft hearted and impulsively generous, who had
earned the friendship and esteem of many well-known
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people at home aad abroad. ‘I have never known
Adolf Beck," wrote Mr Sims, do a mean or unkinly
act. Amid all his persecutions and trouble I lave
known him do many kindly and generous ones.’
Beck spoke and wrote English imperfectly.

In 1895 Beck was living in a flat in 'Victoria Street.
On the evening of December 16th, i~ that year, he
was standing at the street door looking for a newspaper
boy, when a woman came up to him and said, * What
have you done vith my watch?’ Beck replied,

Madam, I do not know jou, you are mistaken.’
The woman persisted in her accusation. Beck
threatened to give her into custody. The woman still
persisting, Beck said, Come with me,” and together
they went up to a policeman. Beck said that the
woman was annoying him by making a false accusation
against him and asked the policeman to take her in
charge. All threc went to the nearest police station.
There the woman repeated her statement, and Beck,
from the accuser, found himse'f the accused. A little
later two other women were brought into the station,
beth of whom identified Beck as a man who had
robbed them. He was detained in custody

It was a fatal impulse that prompted Adoif Beck to
go down to his street door on December 16th, 1893,
to look for a newspaper boy.

Same eighteen years before, on May 1cth, 1877,
while Beck was still in South America, a ma.» of the
name of John Smith,a circumcised Jew, twenty-seven
yaars of age, had been convicted at the Central Criminal
Coutt of ‘bilking’ women, and sentenced to five
years’ penal servitude. His practice at that time was
to pass as a certain ‘ Lord Willoughby,” to make
friends with a wuman, hold himself out as a man of
mean$ and position, and give the woman a bogus
clteque, on the strength o% which he would borrow
money from her and any poor articles of jewellery
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which she happened to possess. TLord Willoughby
wculd then disappear with the money, jewellery, and
any -ther little acticles of value he could 1ay hands on,
and never be heard of again, while the unfortunate
woman presented the cheque a. the bank and realised
that she had Leen the victim of a swindler. The
trial of Smith t-ok place before the Common Serjeant,
Sir Thomas Chambers, afterwards Recorder of London,
and the, prosecution was conducted by Mr Forrest
Fulton, who, as Common Serjeant « f London in 1896,
was to preside at the firct trial of Adolf Beck. Smith
was detended by Montagu Williams.

Two years after Smith’s conviction it had become
known to the prison authoritie; that the convict was
a circumcised Jew. A certificate by the Medical
Officer to that effect was then attached to Smith’s
penal record. 'When Smith was released on licence in
1881, his photograph and descrij tion were sent to
Scotland Yard. By an unfortunate omission the fact
of Smith’s circumcision -was not stated in the copy of his
description sent to the police, a very unlucky circuin-
stance, as it turned out, for Adolf Beck.

For two. vears after his release from prison Smith
remained in England. He then went to South
Australia where he practised as a doctor. In 1894
he returned to England, but until two years later,
when he was carrying on a jewellery business in
Rosebe'y Avenue,, his whereabouts were unknown.

The woman who, on the evening of December 16th,
1895, had accused Adolf Beck of robbing her was
ramed Ottilie Meissonier. According to her .tory
she had met Beck in Victoria Street on November 26th.
She was on her way to a flower show at the Drill Hall,
Westminster. She said that Beck had stopped her,
and asked if she were Lady Egerton. After apologising
for his mistake, he got iato conversation with her. It
turned on the sutject of flowers. He said that he had

6



Adolf Beck

an estate in Lincclnshire and kept ten gardeners.
The woman raid that she had a box of chrysanth-+
mums at home. Beck asked if he might call at .er
house in'Fulham and see them. She invited>him to
come on the following day. He did so, and was so
struck apparently with the charms of Miss Meissonier
that he invited her to go with him tc the South of
France. He was, he said, a cousin of Lord Salisbury
and owned the greater part of Brompton. His income
amounted to the p:'try sum of £180,000. He gave
Miss Meissonier a cheque fur f40 to pay for her
outfit for the Riviera. He was kind enough to say
he would take a watch belonging to her to be mended,
and a ring to be enlarged. After he had left, she
missed another watch, and on presenting the cheque
at the Union Bank in Trafalgar Square, learned that
her wealthy friend had no account there.

This story whica Ottilie Meissonier told to the
police was one of many. Since the latter part of the
year 1894, a numoer of womer. of light character had
made similar complaints of having been defrauded by
a man passing himself off as * Lord Wilton,’ or ‘ Lord
Winton de Willoughby,” by giving bogus cheques
and stealing articles of value by precisely the same
method as that followed by John Smith eighteen years
before. The police had been unable to lay hands on
the swindler, but the arrest of Beck gave them hope
that they had at last succeeded in.getting tha right
man, In all twenty-two women were brought to see
Beek, ten of whom identified him positively as the
man who had swindled them; others were uncertain;
one only declared that he was not the man. When,
on the day following his arrest, Beck was brought up
before the magisirate at Westminster Police Court,
another woman told a story against him similar to
that of Ottilie Meissonier. Iia her case the man had
described himself as ¢ Earl Wilton,’ aad obtained from
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her two rings and a bracelet. He had promised to set
ler up in an establishment in Sc¢ John's Wood and,
iin ~rder that she might get things for the new house,
had given her a bogus cheque for £35 on-a non-
existent branch of the Union Bank in St James’s
Street. Wher,, the previous evening, this woman had
reen Beck with six other men at the police station,
she said that she believed him to be the man, but
would know better if he took off his hat. When he
did so, she said that he was tle man. Beck was
remanded.

Hitherto the police had not associated the offences
charged against Beck with those committed by Smith
in 1877. But, the day following Beck’s first appear-
ance at the police court, a gentleman, who had seen
an account of the proceedings in the newspaper and
recollected the crimes of Smith, wrote to the authorities
at Scotland Yard and called their attention to the
similarity of the two cases. Following up this hint,
the police obtained ‘wo pieces o evidence which
seemed to confirm the suggestion of their correspon-
dent. A police officer named Spurrell, who had been
present at the convirtion of Smith at the Old Bailey
in 1866, swore positively that Smith and Beck were
the same man. Gurrin, the handwriting expert, having
examined the documents in the cases of Smith and
Beck, and compared them with the admitted hand-
writing of the latter, declared that undoubtedly all
the documents were in the same handwriting, and
that it was a Scandinavian type of handwriting, which
in the cheques and documents given to the defrauded
women had been disguised. There were, he said, two
styles of writing, one natural, the other feigned; all
the documents that had been submitted to him were
in the handwriting of Adolf Beck. From this moment
the police and the prosccution accepted the fact tnat
Beck as John Smith had been convicted previously in
8
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1877 of offences similar to those now alleged against
him in 1895 It was of a piece with Beck’s 1ll lurk
in general that Gurrin, the expert, eight years I~ .er,
admitted that he had been wrong in his ccnclusion
that the documents in tiie Smith case and Beck’s case
were written in the disguised handwiiting of Adolf
Beck. This mistake of his played no small part in the
eight years of suffering that Beck was fated to endure.
It was unfortunate, too, that before the trial Inglis,
another expert, em" loyed by the defence, had agreed
with the erroneous opinion of Gurrin.

During the subsequent hearings at the police court,
eight other women gave evidence of having been
swindled in a fashion sumnilar to that already described,
and identified Beck as the swindler. Spurrell and
Gurrin also gave evidence, and on February 6th, 1896,
Beck was committed for trial to the Central Criminal
Court on various clharges of felony and misdemeanour,

At the final hearing at the police court Beck had
beén anxious to :nake a statemrent asserting his inno-
cence and denying the fact that he was John Smith.
But his solicitor, Mr Dutton, who had been recom-
mended t6 him by the police after his arrest, dissuaded
him. From the moment that the prosecution afleged
the identity of Beck with Smith, Mr Dutton believed
that he had a * winning case’; he was confident that
he would be able to disprove the alleged identity, and
so sectire Beck’s acquittal. But, however confident
a solicitor may be of his client’s innocence, it has been
held by the Court of Crimninal Appeal that it is as a
rule unwise, if he have a good defence, not to disclose
it at the police court.?

The position of Adolf Beck, an innocent man, is
sufficiently tragic at the moment. Ten women have
identified him as a swindler, charged with a peculiarly
mtan and dastardly form of theft. Some of the

3 Wills, Circumstantia. Evidence, 6th Ecition, p. 102,
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women admitted that they had zone to the police
court in a spirit of ievenge, hopirg to bc the means of
pu-~ishing the man who had cheated them. But even
allowing for the feeling of resentment which made
these witnesses only too ready co see in Beck a heartless
swindler, their statements are a startling proof of the
little reliance *hat, except under very special circum-
stances, can be placed on evidence to identity. Beyond
the fact that both men had a gray moustache, there was
little or no physical resemblance between Beck and
Smith. Smith spoke Znglish peiectly, Beck with a
strong foreign accent. Yet, in spite of these circum-
stances, ten women are found ready to swear quite
honestly that an innocent man is a thief and swindler.

Beck had one, and that a seemingly impregnable
answer to the charge against him.. He said, ‘I am
not, as the prosecution allege, John Smith convicted
in 1877 and sentenced to five yea-s’ penal servitude.
I am prepared to prove beyond doubt that during
the whole period trom “he convictior. of Smith in 1877
to his release from orison in 1881, I was in South
America. IfI can prove that for only one day of that
period T was out of England, it is conclusive proof
that I cannot be John Smith.” We have seen that when
he found himself charged at the police court as John
Smith, Beck had wished to make a statement to this
effect but had been dissuaded from doing so.. He
could only hope now to bring forward this proof of
his innocence at his approaching trial.

What steps had the prosecution taken to satify
themselves that Smith and Beck were the same man?
The identification marks of Smith were sent by the
police to the Public Prosecutor, and on January 1 gth,
1896, those of Adolf Beck. Mr Sinis of the Treasury,
in whose hands had been placed the conduct of the
case, received those of Smith but had no recollection
of receiving those of Beck, nor did he make any furthter
10
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application for hem. He explained his inaction in
the matter| by saying that the evidence of Cons’able
Spurrell, who had seen Smith nincteen years Leore,
and now identified Beck as the same man, l.ad satisfied
him that there was sufficient prima facie evidence of
Beck’s identity with Smith. A pdlice officer wlio,
having independently examined Beck and compzred
his marks with those of Smith, had failed to find in
Beck the corresponding marks, said that he communi-
cated the result « f his examination to Mr Sims. Mr
Sims was positi e that he had not done so. In any
case it is clear that the prosecution, though they knew
from Mr Dutton at the police court the nature of
Beck’s defence, had not taken every possible means
of satisfying themselves beyond all doubt that Beck
was John Smith. It must be added that the description
of Smith sent to the Treasury did not state the fact
of his circumcision. This fact was at this time known
only to the prison authorities at Portsmouth. Twice
before the trinl, Mr Duttcn applied to the Com-
missioners of Police for permission, for the purpose of
the defence, to see the penal record of John Smitn.
Both applications were refused.

The trial of Adolf Beck began at the Central
Criminal Court on March 13rd, 1896, before the
Common Serjeant, Sir Forrest Fulton, now Recorder
of London. Mr (now Mr Justice) Avory led for tke
prosecution, and Mr C. F. Gill for the defence. There
were five indictments against Beck, one for mis-
gemeanour, and four sor felony. In each of the
indictments for felony there was a count charging
the prisoner with having been previously convicted
as John Smith, but there was no such count in that
for misdemeancar. Mr Avory at the time believed
that an indictment for misdemeanour coull not
kegally contain any charge of a previous conviction;
but, as he himself pointed out subsequently, the
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Prevention of Crimes Act (34 and 35 Vic.), would
have justified its inclusion; in any case it v/as not, he
said’ Ls practice to insert such a count in ar. mdlctment
for misdericanour. It was on this indictment for
misdemeanour, which contained no count of a previous
coaviction, that ihe prosecution elected to try Beck.
Th's we shall see, ‘rom the point of view of the innocent
man, was a most unfortunate decision.

It was unfortunate, too, for an innocent man that
nothing could have appeared stionger than the
evidence of the ten woinen who i1l swore to the
identity of Beck with the man who, as Lord Wilton,
or Willoughby, had swindled them so heartless]y
‘1 was quite sure of him and always have been,’ said
one. ‘The prisoner is the living picture of the man
I saw,’ said another. °I recognised- the prlsoncr at
once,”. ‘T have not a shadow of doubt he is the man,’
said others. There was some divergence among them
as to the accent with which the man had spoken.
Some said that he miglt have had a slight foreign
accent, some that he spoke as an Englishman; others
had noticed that he was not an Englishman; onc
said that ¢t her tlat he spoke with a Yankeé twang,
but when she saw the man at the police court she
thought he was a Swiss. As the Prisoners’ Evidence
Act had not been passed at the time of Beck’s trial,
ke was unable to go into the box and give the woren
an opportunity of hearing him speak; they might then
have been less positive as to his identity. Mr Gill
could shake them but little in cross-examinatior.
He got from some of them that the conditions, under
which they had identified the prisoner, had not in all
cases been satisfactory, and that their feelings against
the man they believed to nave swindled them were
angry and revengeful. But, taking it altogether,
on the evidence of the women the case against Beck
was a very strong' one.
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To one of th: women, the man who had swindled
her had \ritten on note-pape: of the Grand Flotel,
London, aad had spoken of, sending to her a one-
armed commissionaire, a favourite char.cter in his
various romances, fruom that hotel. A waiter from the
Grand Hotel was called by the prosecution, who said
that for the last six years he had krown Beck s a
visitor to the smoking room of the hotel.

‘The proprietor of a hotel in Covent Garden gave
evidence with bvious reluctance of the fact that
Beck owed him a sum of money amounting to £1300
or f1400.

The crucial moment in the decision of Beck’s fate
was the appearance in the witness box of Gurrin,
the handwriting expert. As we know, he had already
formed the opinion that the cheques and lists in the
present case, as well as those in the Smith case in 1877,
were all in the <iisguised handwriting of Adolf Beck.
The prosecution asked him only as to the, former,
making no allusion to.the documcnts in the Smith
case. It was when Mr Gill, in cross-examination,
«eferred to the case of Smith that the question arase
the answer to which was to determine whether an
innocent man was to suffer or not for the guilt of
another. What occurred is given thus in the words
of the Sessions Paper:—

‘Mr Gill was proceeding to cross-examine as
to the handwriting of certain other documents,
exhibits in the case of a man Smith, tried in 1877.
Mr Avory objected to the witness being cross-
examined with a view of raising the question whether
the prisoner was the person convnctcd in 1847 of an
offence similar to that charged in the indictment;
that was a collateral issue, and should not be 1nqu1red
into until after the jury had returned their verdict,
lest it should afterwards be said that the prisoner

13



Last Studies in Criminology

had been improperly convicted. Mr Gill urged that
the uestion was directly in issue, and that he was
entit'e! to raise it, as his case on behalf of the prisoner
was that the man who was convicted in 1877 was.the
man who had been committing tuese frauds, and that
the prisoner had been mistaken for that man. He
desired to show by cross-examination that the writing
of the man convicted in 1877 was the same as that
of the exhibits in the present case. Mr Gurrin
stated that the exhibits i1n the casc of Smith were
examined by him some t:me after k> had made his
report; there was a reference in his report, produced
at the police court, to the exhibits in that case. Mr
Gill further contended that upon the question of the
value of the witness’s opinion he was entitled to have
all the documents produced which had.been submitted
to him. . Mr Avory objected to the witness being
asked whether these exhibits were in -he same writing
as the lists in the present case. The Common Serjeant
ruled that the question ~hether the p*lsoner was or
was not the man convicted in 1877 was not admissible,
nh the ground that it related to another and distinct
issue, and. one calculated to mislead the jury. If
witnesses were called to character, Mr Avory mlght
cross-examine them as to the prlsoncr S prevmus
character; or he might choose not to have the issue
confused by the introduction of that matter.’

The situation was this: the prosecution had the
positive testimony of the poiice constable, Spurrell
that Beck was Smith, and that of another retired
constable, who had been in charge of the Smith case
and was prepared to identify Beck as the man. They
had Gurrin’s report that the documcats in both the
Smith and Beck cases were all in the disguised hand-
writing of Adolf Beck. In the indictments for felony
Beck was charged with previour conviction as Smith..
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In part through a misapprehension on a technical
point, Beck was nct charged with previous conviction
as Smith in the indictment for misdemeanour, .on
which the prosecution had elected to try bim before
the Common Serjeant. Mr Avory had positive
instructions and himself no reasonzble doubt that
Beck was Smith. When Mr Gill commenced his
cross-examination of Gurrin as to the documents in
the Smith case, with the object of showing that the
handwriting of th(se documents was not that of Beck,
but that of 2 mar named Smith, Mr Avory objected
to the relevance of such evidence. The reason that

rompted him to make this vital objection was that,
if such evidence were admitted, he would then have
to prove to the jury, as he beheved he could, that
Beck was Smith, and so prejudice the prisoner in the
eyes of the jury by proving a previous conviction
against him. It was also his feeling that the admission
of this evidence might afterwards give ground for
contending tha* the prisoner had been improperly
convicted. Mr Gill, on his side, held the view, rightly
oc wrongly, that the only way, by which in the presen:
trial he could raise the issue as to the identity of Beck
with Smith, was by cross-exarining the witnesses called
for the prosecution, and then calling witnesses to
prove an alibi in regard to the alleged previous con-
viction of Beck as Smith. To have pressed the
matter further after the ruling of the judge he did not
consider justifiable; to have. turned ana denounced
the judge or Mr Avory would, in his opinion, have
been an outrage. 'To have put forward an affirmative
defence in opposition to the ruling of the judge
would, he considered, have been rather a strong thing
to do, and would have necessitated his calling Gurrin
and Spurrell, hostile witnesses. These were the
motives actuating the two leading counsel in the
lines they took respectively in dealing with the question
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of the identity of Beck with Sthith. If Mr Avory’s

ccatention that such:a question was a co.lateral issue
were upheld by the judge, and Mr Gill did not con-
siaer himeelf justified in pressing the matter further,
then Beck was lost.

The judge decided against him. He held that the
question of Beck’s identity with Smith was a collateral
issue, and therefore inadmissible to be raised in the
present case. The Common Serjeant had formed
in his own mind during the casc the opinion that
probably Beck was not Smith, and that the prosecution
were very doubtful on this %)omt He thought that
Mr Gill, perfectly legitimately, was trying to run the
defence on the identity of doubcful documents, to the
exclusion of the positive evidence as to Beck’s identity
given during the trial by the various women. He had
not the faintest recollection of his own appearance as
prosecuting counsel in the Smith (ase in 1877; he
had had very little practice at the Old Bailey at that
time, and had probably held the brief for a friend.

The Committee of Inquiry into Beck’s case in
L004, consisting of the Master of the kolls, an e::-
Indian judge and a distinguished civil servant and
historian, was of opinion that the decision of Sir
Forrest Fulton was wrong, that a prisoner was not
debarred from referring to a previous conviction if
material to his defence, that evidence adduced bty a
prisoner, relevant to his defence, cannot be excluded,
although it be relevant also to a collateral issue which
is not under trial. In their opinion, the evidenc:
tendered by Mr Gill could only have been excluded
on the ground that it was irrelevant to the main issue,
the guilt or innocence of the prisoner. But in this
case it was relevant to the main issue : ‘It was the
first step in a train of reasoning leading to the con-
clusion that Mr Beck was not the man. Two crimes
were committed by one and the same man. Mr Beck
16
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could not have committed the first. Therefore he
did not corimit the second.” To the Committee it
seéemed that Sir Forest Fulton had treated the sound
rule as to evidence on collateral issues as tpplicaole
to the special circumstances of this case, which, with
the greatest deference, they ventured to think, for
the reasons given above, it was not.

The decision of the Common Serjeant on the
second day of the trial was the last link in the chain
of fatal circumstaices that was to bring about the
conviction and imprisonmert of an innocent man.
After the rejection of his plea, Mr Gill called some
witnesses for the defence. When one of them was
about to give evidence of his having met Beck in
Peru in 1880, at a ti.ne when John Smith was serving
his term of imprisonment in England, his evidence
was objected to as irrelevant. On March sth, after
a few minutes’ deliberation, the jury found Beck guilty.
The Common Serjeant said that he considered the
evidence as to inentity had heen overwhelming, not
in one, but in every direction. He described the
psisoner’s crime as base, wicked, and entirely heartless,
“and sentenced him to seven years’ penal servitude.

Mr Gill asked that the indictments for felony
against Beck should now be tried, or a verdict of not
guilty taken on them, but the judge decided that
they must stand over till the next session of the
court, when the Attorney-General entered a no/le
prosequi in regard to them.

Beck was sent to serve che first part of his sentence
at Wormwood Scrubs prison. There he was given
the number allotted to John Smith in 1877, D.g23,
with an additional * W’ marking him as having been

reviously convicted. Beck was now legally, and all
Eut ift fact, John Smith,

Indeed, in the words of Sir Forrest Fulton at a

later date,*¢an awful calamity’ hac fallen on Adolf
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Beck. But this was as nothing .to the ‘grievous
w.nng ' that was to be done him in the ti.ne to come.
Calamity he had sufered through what might be
he.d to h~ve been a too narrow interpretation of the
law of evidence, wrong he was to suffer through the
unsympathetic attitude of the Home Office towards
his frequent abp-als for justice. No doubt such appeals
are constant and for the most part worthless, and
breed in, the official mind a certain natural scepticism.
But there is always the danger t]at this scepticism
may become a habit of mind, a dinger which only
constant vigilance can prevent.

The first of fifteen petitions presented by Beck to
the Home Office was dated June gth, 1896, and was
drawn up by Mr Dutton, his soli.itor. It put forward
the question, left untned of the identity of Beck with
Smith; it pointed out that from 18'73 to 1884, during
the perlod embracing the trial anc imprisonment of
John Smith, Beck had been in South America, and
stated that four gentlemen had atterded at the trial
prepared to swear to having known Beck during that
‘pertod in Peru. One of them, a Gentieman of the
Chamber to the King of Denmark, recollected a visit
pald him by Beck whilsc he was in prison in Lima,
during the war between Chili and Peru, which had
lasted from 1879 to 1881. All these gentlemen had
been called for the defence at the trial as witnesses
to the good character of Beck, but that part of their
evidence waich would have negatlved the suggestlon
that Beck was Smith, had been ruled out as irrelevant
tp the issue. Mr Dutton now asked that the Home
Office should cause such inquiries to be made as
would prevent a ‘ grave miscarriage of justice,” and
procure a free pardon for the petiticner.

There are two Home Office minutes drawn up on
the subject of this petition, and the substance of both
is a refusal on the part of the Home Office authorities
18



Adolf Beck

to examine into the question, raised by Mr Gill at the
trial, of Beck’s identity with Smith. They accept ‘he
ruhng of thc Common Serjeant, as (o the irrelevance
of Mr Gill’s defence. In the first minute :t is said :
‘ Even if the prisoner is not Smith, the evidence of
his guilt in the present case is quite overwhelming. He
was identified by ten women, whom hz had defrauded,
quite positively. There was also the evidence of Mr
Gurrin as to the handwriting of the forged cheques
and its identity with the previous writing.” This
mmute, as the Committee of Inquiry pointed out,
‘ suggests no inkling of any miscarriage. It assumes
as conclusive beyond discussion the ruling itself
which is the real ground of appeal, and assumes
as conclusive, evidence which was only conclusive
because all evidence to-the contrary was excluded by
the ruling impugned.” In thesecond minute Mr Gill's
defence is described as a ‘ clever ruse.” How, it is
asked, could the evidence of his witnesses as to Beck’s
presence in South Americr be disproved? This
would almost seem to suggest, said the Committee,
that an alibi 1s defective and a ruse, because it is difficvlc
for the Crown to answer it. Beck’s alibi was a good
one; it had not the vice o alleging events to have
happened at a particular place and time, which had
really happened, but at a different place and time from
that alleged; the presence of Beck in South America
on anty one day during Smith’s crimes and imprison-
ment was sufficient to prove his case. But into the
qaestion of this alibi the Home Office refused to go,
and the petition was marked ‘ Nil.’

Speaking many years after the event and with no
distinct recollection of the case, except from re-reading
it, Sir Kenelm Digby, Fermanent Under-Secretary
at the Home Office in 1896, would seem at the time
to have been greatly influenced in his view of the value
of Beck’s defence by the fact that Mr Gill, having
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failed to put it forward by cross-examination, had not
opuned it as an afirmative defence. It lea him to the
conclusion that Mr Cill had not affirmative evidence
strong encugh to meet that of the prosecution; and
that he had not pressed his case further because he
could ot really rely on the strength of it.

Whatever the reasons, no steps of any kind ware
taken by the Home Office at this time to make any
inquiry into the facts of the case. They seem to have
contented themselves with referring to the report
of Beck’s trial in the Central Crimir.al Court Sessions
Paper and the Times newspaper, but made no examina-
tion into the case of Smith.

During the next two years of his imprisonment
Adolf Beck addressed personally six petitions to the
Home Office. They are written in imperfect English.
The unfortunate man begins to b-lieve himself the
victim of a deliberate conspiracy, and accuses his
solicitor, Mr Dutton, of acting in collusion with his
enemies. He says that before his arrest he had been
warned of a plot to ruir him. Itis little to be wondered
at that an innocent man, sent to seven years’ penal
servitude, with absolute proof of his innocence to be
had for the asking, should fancy himself the victim
of persecution. He protests his innocence emphati-
cally. ‘ In whatsoever situation, misfortune or faults
sic) I may have had, I have never been guilty of
obtainino anything by false pretences, nor have I
ever stolen the value of a halfpenny from man or
woman in my lifetime.” In spite of Berk’s unjust
suspicions, Mr Dutton was still active on his behalf.
He had in vain endeavoured to obtain from th:
Commissioners of Police leave to inspect the official
papers in the Smith case; he had in vain endeavoured
to obtain an interview with the Home Secretary in
order to lay before him the fa:ts of the case. But at
last, on May 2 sth, 1898, he niakes a communication
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to the Home Office, which, if it proved correct, must
establish once and’ for all that Adolfi Beck and Jciin
Smith were- two different person:. He writes :
‘I have been informed that it is believed-the man,
John Smith, alias John Weissenfells, was of the
Jewish persuasion and would thererore have' beewn
circumcised in accordance with the custom of his race.
I do not know whether this appears on the records
of John Smith, but it can of course be easily proved
that Beck has nc. been circumcised.” The Home
Office made the necessary iaquiries. The fact of
Smith’s circumcision, known to the prison authorities
since 1879, came to light. There could now be no
longer any question that Adolf Beck was not the John
Smith whose prison aumber he had been wearing for
the last two years.

Was this discovery to be the means of proving the
innocence of Beck and procuring his pardon and
release? Would it lead to an examination into all the
facts of the Smith case and his own? Here is the
minute of the orhicial of the Home Office on receipt
of the information :(—

‘1 believe Mr Dutton is so far right that Beck and
Smith are different persons, which is shown by the
marks on them which I have compared, which differ
widgly and which curiously have never been referred
to before; but this does not prove that Beck was not
guilty of the many offences of the same kina of which
ha was convicted, he having been satisfactorily identi-
fied by numerous women whom he had defrauded,
though it does prove that the police witness was
mistaken and shows how invaluable in such a case
would have been the measurement system.’

It does not seem to Fave occurred to the writer of
this minute that if the police witnesses, Spurrell and
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another constable who had been in charge of Smith’s
cuse in 1877, had ‘ knowing what was at stake * sworn
at Westminster polne court in 1896 that they had
‘no doubt whatever ’ that Beck was Smith, it was very
possible that these ten women mlght havc made a
similer mistake in regard to Beck’s identity. Every
consideration s‘lould now have urged a close and
searching inquiry into the facts of Smith’s case, and
an examination of the documents in that case which
were admitted to be in the same h.ndwriting as those
in the case of Beck. If Beck and Smith were provedly
different men, and the handwriting of the documents
in the two cases the same, then clearly the writing in
Smith’s case could not be, as Gurrin had declared,
the ‘disguised writing of Adolf Beck. The Home
Office took no steps to ascertain the truth as to this
question of handwriting; the matter was left un-
investigated. What they did was t» send the petition
of Beck, the letters of Mr Dutton, the reports of the
two trlals, and a note of the distinctive marks of Smith
and Beck to the Common Serjeant, Sir Forrest Fulton,
and ask for his opmlon on the case and the represcnta-
tions made on Beck’s behalf.

Here, in the run of persistent ill luck, which seemed
at every turn determined to defeat any attempt to
bring about the rehabilitation of Beck, occurred a
misunderstanding of most unhappy consequence.
In his reply to the Home Ofhice, Sir Forrest [fulton
wrote: ‘1 do not understand if the paper sent to me,
gurportmg to be a record of the marks of Smith and

eck respectwc]y, is official or not. I observe that
Mr Dutton, in one of his communications, says he is
informed that Smith was a Jew and was circumcised.
It is, of course, obvious thut if at the time of his con-
viction, Smith was circumcised and Beck is not so,
they cannot be one and the same person.” Seeing that
Sir Forrest Fultou was clearly in doubt as to the official
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character of .the information in regard to Smith’s
circumcision, it would seem that he’ should havc
received a definite assurance of that fict. This was
not given him, nor was this fact of the circ»mcisica
of Smith communicated by the Home. Office to the
Treasury or to the police. Mr Murdock of the
Home Office, though he discussed the case of Beck
with Superintendent Friest of the police, and tlie
evidence of the women in regard to a certain scar,
never mentioned tu him the discovery of Smith’s
circumcision.

The rest of Sir Forrest Fulton’s reply was un-
favourable to Beck: he reiterated the overwhelming
character of the evidence of the women as to Beck’s
identity, and wrote wnat he should be inclined to
regard the South American alibi with great suspicion,
requiring, before it could be acted on, the most
stringent and searching examination. He had, he
wrote, regarded the crime as exceptionally cowardly,
selfish and cruel, and fully des=rving the very severe
sentence he had passed upon it.

Stringent and searching examination into all the,
facts of Beck’s appeal was the one thing the Home
Office declined to give. Instead we find the minute
dated July 15th, 1898,—

‘*The Common Serjeant has not the slightest
doubt that the allegation that Beck is the man
who was convicted of a similar offence in 1877
is open to doubt, but ihis is really immaterial,
as Beck is punished only for the offence proved
in 1896.

Nil: But let the convict be given a fresh prison
number so that his identity with John Smith should
not be affirmed.’

And in the following month, the convict Beck, who
had now been removcd to Portland prison, was
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ticketed with the number W. 78 insteid of that of
John Smith D W. 523.

To say that it is ‘ open to doubt’ whether a man
c.rcumcised in 1879 could be the same man as one
uncircumcised in 1898, seerus like flying in the face
of niture. From this moment the fact that Beck was
20t, and could not be, Smith, could admit of no doubt
whatever; it was an absolute certainty. It proved
conclusively the second step in the defence put
forward on Beck’s behalf; it gave new weight to the
evidence of the alibi and added significance to the
point urged by Beck in the poor English of his petitions
that in examining ‘ that man’s triel of 77 ther will be
found the same story as told by these women against
meé the same cheques, the same handwriting and
signatur.’

On July 27th the Home Office ‘nformed IMr Dutton
that the Secretary of State did .ot feel justified in
recommending any interference with the sentence
passed on Adolf Geck. Two extraneous circumstances
had about this time helped to induence the Home
Office in their unfavourable attitude towards Beck’s
petitiors. After his sentence, the Swedish Minister
had called at the Homc Office and got permission for
a solicitor, acting for the Legation, to see Beck and go
into his case. Nothing more was heard of any action
on the part of the Swedish Minister. ‘If there had
been anything in his case,” says an official minute of
Aprit 14w, 1897," the Home Office would have heard
of it from the Legation ere this.,” The other circim-
stance was a statement made to the Home Office by
Superintendent Fréest to the effect that since Beck’s
conviction, the particular form of swindling loose
women, of which he had been found guilty, had
entirely ceased. '

Still Beck continued .to address to the Home O.hice
passionate appeuls for justice, ‘It is only,” he writes,
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‘ by the help and infinit mercy of God, that I am not
by now a lunatic or a total wreck in healt from what
I have endurcd.” He urged yet another point as
disproving his identity with the man who had ~windle 4
the women. They had said that the man had a scar
on the right side of his neck. The official descripiion
of Smith showed that he had such a sca+, that of Beck
that he had not. 'What occurred at the trial of Beck
in relation to this alleged scar is not quite clear.
According to the Sessions Report, one of the women
said that the man h~d ‘a httlc gcar by the right side of
his neck under the ear.” At Mr Gill’s request she
went up to the dock and pointed to the angle of the
prisoner’s jaw, at the place where she sald the mark
was, and then said. ‘. do not see it now.” Another
woman, Ottilie Meissonier, said that the man had
some mark just bzlow the right jaw.” In cross-
examination she sa2id that she could see it now, and
some of the jury stated that they saw the mark described.
At the time that Beck petitioned the Home Office on
this point, his petition was accompamed by a report
from the medical officer of the prison, statmg that
he had cdrefully examined the prisouer’s neck and
could not find any scar there. In addition the Home
Office had the official descriptions of the two men
which corroborated this statement. But from an
account given them by Superintendent Frcest of
what tbok place at the trial, which differed in some
respects from that in the Sessions Paper, tucy would
sesm to have satisfied tnemselves that there was
nothing in Beck’s plea.

To the end Beck persevered in his prayers for
_]ustxce He believed himself to be the victim of a
‘ monster complot ’; he had been tricked and abused;
he begged that he mxght be set free to attend to his
business; in the name of .God he besought His
Majesty’s Principal Secretary of Staie for the Home
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Department to give him that justice, t'y the law of
‘God and man his due. At length on July 8th, 1901,
after undergoing five years of his sentence, Beck was
rileased: on licence from Pentonville prison.

From the moment of leaving prison, Beck set
himuelf by all the means in his power to vindicate his
Jood name. tc get at the bottom of the conspiracy
which, as he thought, had worked his ruin and in-
cidentally killed his mother. She had died of grief
at the time of his arrest. A poor man, Beck spent
nearly f1000 in his attempts to nrove to the world
that he was an honest man. One of his first visits
after his release was to Mr G. R. Sims. Never from
the very first had Mr Sims, himself a man of -the
world and one who in his time has rubbed shoulders
with all manner of men, good, bad, and indifferent,
doubted for a moment Beck’s inrocence and the fact
that his conviction had resulted ‘rom some terrible
mistake ‘I had known Adoif Beck,” he writes,

‘since 1884, anda all the juries in the world would
never have convinced me that he was a petty thief,
2 cowardly swindler of foolish women.” Soon alter
his trial Mr Sims had written an article i which he
had pointed out the impossibility of Beck being John
Smith. After his release, Beck brought him articles
that had appeared in certain newspapers, extolling
the pollce and pointing out the great credit due to
them for ‘laying by the heels the meanest and most
contempuvle scoundrel of modern times.” Mr Sims
went to the editors of these newspapers and succeeded
in convincing them of the injustice of these ‘com-
munications.” On condition of Beck guaranteeing
that, in the event of his innocence being proved, he
would not take any proccedings against them, these
newspapers now wrote articles callmg for a reconsidera-
tion of his case. The. Invastigation Committee of
the Salvation Acvmy lent their aid in Beck’s cause.
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It seemed j'ossible that the unfortunate man would
in a short time be in possession of money sufficient
to enable hini to prosecute his vindication with even
greater vigour. But the time was not given to him.

In August of 1903, John Smith, wl.ose moverients
had been lost sizht of, is known to have been in London
agan.

gOn April 15th in the following year, Adolf Beck
was re-arrested on a charge of swindling a woman
named Pauline Scott.

Miss Scott had on March 22nd met a gentleman in
Oxford Street, who was good enough to ask her for
her address. He gavs his as the Hyde Park Hotel.
Next day he called on her. He gave his name as Lord
Willoughby. He could not stay long, he said, .s he
had to go to the House of Lords. He wished to make
Miss Scott a little present, and wrote out a'cheque
with which she was to buy some dresses. He expressed
a further wish to make her a present of jewellery and,
in order to get the measuremeunt of her finger, borrowed
one of her rings. He took also a watch of hers, which
he was to have repaired and, as his valet had carelessiy
let him come out without his m_ney, his lordship was
good enough to borrow a pound from Miss Scott to
pay for lunch. In the Edgware Road they parted.
Needless to say, Miss Scott never saw Lord Willoughby
or her jewellery again, and his lordship’s cheque turned
out to be bogus.

The same day Miss Scott made a complaint to the
police. Dectective-Inspector Ward came at once to
the conclusion that Miss Scott was another victim of
Adolf Beck, who had no doubt recommenced the
swindling practices of which he had been convicted
eight years before. On March 31st he took her to
a restaurant in Oxford Street, which Beck was in the
habit of frequenting. -She stayed in the restaurant
for neardly two hours, but failed to identify Beck,
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though he was there for a short time. On April 15th
Ward took her tc the corner of Store Street, Tottenham
Court Road, where Beck was then 11vmg When,
abcut half past nine in the morning, Beck came out
of Lis house, Miss Scott went up and spoke to
him.

After five minates’ conversation she told Ward that
this was the man who had swindled her. Ward took
Beck into custody. Beck said that it was all a mistake,
a trumped up charge. His protests were unavailing;
he was lodged in Paddington polic station. Later,
four other women identified Beck as a man who, about
this time, had swindled them in cxactly the same way
as Lord Willoughby had employed with Miss Scott.
One ~voman, who had been simil.rly defrauded, failed
to identify Beck as the man.

On April 2 3rd, Beck was charged at the Marylebone
Police Court with defrauding certain women, and on
May 19th, committed to take his trial at the Central
Criminal Court. Mr Sims, who had prosecuted for
the Treasury in 1896, appeared against Beck at the
pelice court, and Gurrin gave the same evidence as
to the si. mlanty of handwriting, which he admitted
subsequently to have been incorrect. At the end of
the magisterial hearing, Beck said: ‘Before God my
Maker I am absolutely innocent of every charge that
has been brought against me. I have not spoker to,
or seen any, of these women before they wese set
against mc by the detectives. I can bring many
witnesses to prove I have acted honestly in my business
ir the city from 10 a.m. to 6 p.m. I ask the Press to
help me to get all evidence in my support from my
solicitor.” The present writer was told by a barrister
who had heard in court Beck’s vehelaent protestations
of his innocence, that for some reason or other, whether
the foreign accent, the impe-fect English, or some-
thing unfortunatc in the manner of the man, they
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were not « onvincing—another illustration of the well-
known fact that, in their repudiacdon of guilt, the
innocent ars only too frequently less convincing than
the guilty.

The Treasury in tne brief, supplied to coursel for
the prosecution at the approaching trial, commented
in an unfriendly spirit on Beck’s dccleration of inno-
cence. ‘Though he called upon Heaven,” it said,
‘ to witness, and the Press to take note that he was an
innocent man, he did not venture to go into the
witness box.” Pefore the sccond arrest of Beck, the
Prisoners’ Evidence Act (1898) had been passed,
giving to an accused person the right to go into the
witness-box and be examined on oath. That, Beck
did not avail himsclf of this privilege at the pohce
court was made a matter of unfavourable comment.
‘There is no doub: that :f a prisoner has a gocd answer
to the charge against him, it is wise: that he should
make it at the earliest opportunity.

Beck had teen committ.d for trial to the June
sessions of the Central Criminal Court. The in-
formation 1n possession of the Home Office as tc.
Beck and Smith being two distinct persous had not
reached the Treasury In the brief for the prosecution
it was stated: * This will be the third time upon which
the prisoner has stood in the dock of the Central
Criminal Court charged with offences of a like
deschptlon Therefore, once again, thongh their
identity had been conclusively disproved, Beck was
#o stand in the dock as John Smith. His trial would,
in the ordinary course of events, have taken place
before Sir Forrest Fulton, who had now been promoted
from Common Serjeant to Recorder of London. But
the Recorder disliked trying the same man twice,
and it was arranged that Beck should be tried before
Mr Justice Grantham, the High Court judge attending
the sessions.

29



Last Studies in Criminology

The hearing took place on June 27th, 1904. Mr
(now Sir) Charles Mathews and Mr (now Sir) Archi-
bald Bodkin, led for the prosecution, and Mr Leycester
defei ded. BCCk who had been obliged to change his
solicitor a week hefore the trial, applied in vain for a

ostponement. . Four women gave evidence identify-
ing Beck as the muan who had swindled them at various
dates in August 1903 and March 1904, and the
evidence of a fifth, who was ill; was read. Gurrin
went into the box again, and swore that the cheques
and other exhibits in the 'case were ir the same hand-
writing as that of Beck, but ‘studiously disguised.’
Beck, in giving evidence on his »wn behalf, as he was
now entitled to do under the Prisoners’ Evidence Act,
said ti.at on three of the dates in ./arch given by the
women, he was in the City on business, but he called
no eviderce in support of his statemewnts. His solicitor,
who had known Beck for fifteen yea.s, went into the
box and said that he disagreed with the conclusions
of Gurrin in regard to the likeness, between Beck’s
handwriting and that of the documents in the case.
‘1he issue as to the identity of Beck and Smith was
never raiscd by the defence. It was not until some
time after the trial that Mr Leycester learned the fact
that Smith was a circumcised Jew and Beck not.

Beck was found guilty by the jury; he was now,
for the second tlme, convicted of offences of which he
was absolutely innocent. But the judge postponed
passing sentence. IMr Justice Grantham said after-
wards that he found himself, without knowing exactl
why, dissatisfied about the case. The prisoner A
guilt seemed to him proved, and his lmphcxt faith
in the accuracy of Home Oﬂice inquiries * led him
to believe in the prisoner’s previous convictions.
At the same time he Felt that Beck was not an ordinary
member of the criminal classcs, but an unfortunate
man affected with a mania for Juping foolish wom~n.
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The judge :ent for the counsel for the prosecution
and defence, and expressed to them his doubts and his
intention of passing a sentence of twelve months on
the prisoner. But he could get from thera noth’ng
that seemed to justify the uncertainty in his mind.
He sent a priscn doctor to see Beck, who assurea him
that the man was perfectly right in hic mind. Lastly,
Sir William Grantham saw the detectives in the case,
and they successfully ‘ closed the door’ on the un-
defined doubt that was troubling him. He determined
on the sentence which he should pass on Beck at the
following July sessions at the Old Bailey.

To all appearances Pzck’s last hope of escape from
serving a second term of imprisonment for crimes
which he had not committed, had gone. For a.ght
he knew, the unhappy man was to pass through another
long period of undeserved shame and suffering. But
on July 7th, only «. few days before the opening of the
sessions at the Old Bailey, at which Beck was to have
received sentencs,, a police irspector of the rame of
Kane happened, about eleven o’rlock at night, to visit
the Tottenham Court Road police station. He had
been present at both trials of Berk. He was told that
there was a man detained in the station on charges
similar to those of which Beck had been convicted.
He saw the man and satisfied himself that he was the
Johre Smith convicted in 1877. Events moved with
rapidity. In ten days from Kane’s visit to Tottenham
Court Road police station, Beck was a free man.

Of the fve women who had identified Beck at his
second trial, three now identified Smith as the man
who had defrauded them; the two other women had
gone abroad. It was impossible to trace the women
who had given evidence against Beck at his first trial
in 1896. But one was found who at that time had
refused to identify Beck; and had therefore not been
cilled as a witness at tue trial. She was now shown
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by the police a;number of photographs ir.cluding one
of Smith. This she immediately picked out from
among them as that of the man who had swindled her.
Ore of the women had described the swindler as
car17ing a goldl watch with a4 number of Egyptian
coins attached to it. No such watch had been traced
tu Beck, but such a watch was found on Smith. Scme
of ¢he Grand Hotel note-paper, which Beck had been
accused of using, was also found in the possession of
Smith. Gurrin withdrew unrescrvedly his expert
opinion on the identity of the handwriting of Smith
with that of Beck. His excuse that, had he known of
the fact of Smith’s circumcision and the absence of
such a mark on Beck, it would have modified con-
sidc=ably his judgment, does no. give one much faith
in graphology as a pure science.

On JTuly 29th, the King grantec Adolf Beck a free
pardon in respact of his two convictions in 1896 and
1904.

9On September 1gsth William Thomas, alias Joha
Smith, describing himself as a journalist, aged sixty-
five, stood 1n the dock at the Old Bailey and pleacied
guilty tc a charge of stealing some rings and an
umbrella from three women and to 2 previous con-
viction of a similar kind at that court in 1877.

The early history of John Smith is wrapped in
mystery. He said that his real name was William
Augustus Wryatt, that he was born in Lancashire,
and had later gone to Australia, where he had taken
medical degrees. At anotuer time he gave his nare
as Meyer, and said he was an English Jew. After his
release from prison in 1881, he had gone to South
Australia and set up as a physician. In 1894, two
years before the first arrest of Buck, he had been
charged with fraud at Bow Street, but discharged for
want of evidence. His previous history and the proof
of his presence in London at ¢he time of the offerces
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alleged to have been committed by Beck ‘made it
possible,” in the words of Mr Mathews who appearcd
fdr the prosecution, ‘that he could have been the
author of the crimes of 1896, and likely that he -vas
the author of the crimes of 1904.” H': was sente.iced
to five years’ penal servitude.

{t was proposed at first by the authorities to give
Beck a sum of £2000 * in full settlement of all demards’
as compensation for his sufferings, and there the matter
would have ended. But public opinion had been
aroused. Mr G. R. Sims had enlisted the help of the
Daily Mail, making known to the public at large the
facts of Beck’s case. Tt was realised that a gross and
shocking miscarriage of justice had occurred, that
our vaunted safeguards for the protection of the
innocent man accused of crime had been powerless
to prevent the prolonged *orture of a helpless foreigner.
The case was biought before Parliament, and the
Home Secretary appointed a Committee of Inquiry
to investigate the ¢ircumstances of the two convictions.
The committee consisted of Sir Richard Henn Collins,
thtn Master of the Rolls, Sir Spencer Walpole, a
distinguished civil servant, and Sir John Zdge, an
ex-Indian Chief Justice. 'Chey sat for five days,
during which the judges, counsel solicitors, Home
Office and police officials concerned in the two cases
were examined, as well as Beck himself. The
findings of the committee may be summarised as
follows :—

THAT the conduct of the police had been dictated
by nothing but a sense of duty, and had been
perfectly correct.

THAT the omission of the prison authorities to
state the fact of Smith’s circumcision in the
records of 1877 and:1881, was the primary
cause of the miscarriage of justice.
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THAT the iuling of the Common Serjeant at the
trial of Beck was wrong, and led as a consequence
to a mis-trial.

THAT: the action of the Home Office in dealing
with the Lase in 1898 was defective.

THAT there was no shadow of fourdation for any
of the cliarges made against Beck, or dny
reason for supposing that he had any connection
with them whatever,

The committee did not report in favour of the
creation of a Court of Criminal Appeal, but three
years later such a court was set 1p.

Adolf Beck received finally £§ooo compensation.
He lied of pleurisy in the Midd.esex Hospital in the
December of 1909. For two years -before his death
he had been in poor circumstances.

Nothing prcspered with Adolf 3eck, but nature,
according to his friends, had happily bestowed on
him a t>mperament of vndefeated opt'mism; no man
ever had greater need of such a thing.
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